FEDERAL M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVI EW COW SSI ON

OFFI CE OF ADM NI STRATI VE LAW JUDCES
2 SKYLINE, 10th FLOOR
5203 LEESBURG PI KE
FALLS CHURCH, VIRG NIA 22041

June 20, 1997

SECRETARY OF LABOR, : ClVIL PENALTY PROCEEDI NG
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH :
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , . Docket No. WEST 96-3
Petitioner - A C. No. 48-01215-03521
V. :

Coal Creek M ne
S & M CONSTRUCTI QN, | NC.
Respondent

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Ann Nobl e, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor,
U. S. Departnent of Labor, Denver, Col orado,
for the Petitioner;
St ephen Kepp, Safety Director, S & M Construction
Inc., Gllette, Wom ng, for the Respondent.

Bef or e: Judge Koutras

Thi s proceedi ng concerns proposals for assessnment of civil
penalties filed by the petitioner against the respondent pur-
suant to section 110(a) of the Federal Mne Safety and Health
Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. " 820(a), seeking civil penalty

assessnments for alleged violations of mandatory training safety
standards 30 C.F. R 48.25(b) and 48.26(a). The respondent filed
atinely answer and a hearing was held in Gllette, Womng. The
petitioner filed a posthearing brief, but the respondent did not.
However, | have considered its oral argunents made on the record
in the course of the hearing, as well as the argunents advanced
by the petitioner.

| ssues
The issues presented in this case are (1) whether the

conditions or practices cited by the inspector constitute
violations of the cited mandatory safety standards, (2) whether
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the alleged violations were Asignificant and substantial @ (S&S),

and (3) the appropriate civil penalties to be assessed for the
viol ations, taking into account the civil penalty assessnent
criteria found in section 110(i) of the Act.

Appl i cable Statutory and Regul atory Provi sions

The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977,
Pub. L. 95-164, 30 U.S.C. " 801 et seq.,

30 CF.R ™" 48.25(b) and 48.26(a).
Commi ssion rules, 29 CF. R " 2700.1 et seq.

Sti pul ati ons

The parties stipulated to the foll ow ng:

1

The respondent is the owner and operator of the
subj ect m ne.

The respondent is engaged in mning and selling of
coal in the United States, and its m ning operations
the jurisdiction of the Mne Act.

The Adm nistrative Law Judge has jurisdiction in
this matter.

The subject citations were properly served by a duly
aut hori zed representative of the petitioner upon an
agent of respondent on the dates and pl aces stated
therein, and may be admtted into evidence for the
pur pose of establishing their issuance, and not for
the truthful ness or rel evancy of any statenents
asserted therein.

The exhibits to be offered by respondent and the
petitioner are stipulated to be authentic, but no
stipulation is made as to their rel evance or the
truth of the matters asserted therein.
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6. The respondent denonstrated good faith in abating
t he viol ations.

7. The respondent produced 3, 356,712 tons of coal
in 1994.

8. The certified copy of the MSHA Assessed Vi ol ations
Hi story (Exhibit P-1) accurately reflects the
history of the mne for the two years prior to the
date of the citations.

Di scussi on

Section 104(g) (1) AS&SI Order No. 3848781, issued at
5:30 p.m on February 21, 1995, by MSHA | nspector Herbert A
Skeens, cites an alleged violation of 30 C.F.R 48.26(a), and
the condition or practice cited is described as foll ows:

The foll owm ng enpl oyees have not received the
training required by 30 CF. R 48.26: Derward
Li nt enpl oyed since 5/17/94.

Ri chard Chesnore enpl oyed since 1/17/95
Raynond Hol zer enpl oyed since 6/24/94

John M 11liken enployed since 10/6/94

Bill Mrris enployed since 5/13/94

Craig A son enpl oyed since 11/29/94

Ri chard Vill now enpl oyed since 6/14/94

Wl bert WIIlianms enpl oyed since 5/31/94

Burt d eason enpl oyed since 10/ 26/ 94

Al of the cited mners were ordered to be withdrawn from
the mne. The order was nodified on February 22, 1995, to allow
mners Wlliams, Villnmw, Holzer, and Chesnore to return to work
because they received the required training. Mner MIIliken was
allowed to return to work on February 23, 1995, after his newy
enpl oyed experienced m ner training was docunented. Except for
m ner Morris, who was no | onger enployed at the mne, the
remain-ing mners were allowed to return to work on March 10,
1995, when their newy enpl oyed experienced m ner training was
docunent ed.

1020



The respondent:s answer states, in relevant part, as
fol |l ows:

This order states 9 enpl oyees were inadequately

trai ned as experienced mners working at Coal Creek
m ne. The order states that due to inadequate
training these individuals were reasonably i kely
to be injured and that the injury would result in
a fatality.

In fact: The least experienced mner had 4 years
practicing his craft. Seven of the 9 have 15 years

experience in their craft. Al nine individuals
had current training certificates issued by S&M
Constructi on. Seven of the nine individuals have

been enployed by S&M for nore than 4 years and had
received annual training during that tinme frane.

The Secretary=s regulatory training requirenents for mners
wor ki ng at surface m nes and surface areas of underground m nes
are found in Part 48, Subpart B, Title 30, Code of Federa
Regul ations. Section 48.26(a) provides as foll ows:

(a) A newy enployed experienced m ner shal
receive and conplete training in the program

of instruction prescribed in this section before
such mner is assigned to work duties.

(b) The training programfor newly enpl oyed
experienced mners shall include the follow ng:

(1) Introduction to work environnment. The course
shall include a visit and tour of the mne. The
met hods of mning or operations utilized at the
m ne shall be observed and expl ai ned.

(2) Mandatory health and safety standards. The
course shall include the mandatory health and safety
standards pertinent to the tasks to be assigned.

(3) Authority and responsibility of supervisors
and m ners: representatives. The course shal
i nclude a review and description of the |ine of
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authority of supervisors and mners: representatives
and the responsibilities of such supervisors and

m ners: representatives; and an introduction to the
operator=s rules and the procedures for reporting
hazar ds.

(4) Transportation controls and conmuni cati on

systens. The course shall include instruction on

the procedures in effect for riding on and in m ne
conveyances; and controls for the transportation of
mners and materials; and the use of mne comuni-
cation systens, warning signals, and directional signs.

(5) Escape and energency evacuati on pl ans;
firewarning and firefighting. The course shal

i nclude a review of the m ne escape system
escape and energency evacuation plans in effect
at the mne; and instruction in the firewarning
signals and firefighting procedures.

(6) Gound controls; working in areas of highwalls,
wat er hazards, pits, and spoil banks; illum nation
and ni ght work. The course shall include, where
applicable, an introduction to and instruction on

t he highwall and ground control plans in effect at
the m ne; procedures for working safely in areas of
hi ghwal | s, water hazards, pits, and spoil banks, the
illumnation of work areas, and safe work procedures
for mners during hours of darkness.

(7) Hazard recognition, The course shall include the
recogni tion and avoi dance of hazards present in the
m ne, particularly, any hazards related to expl osives
wher e expl osives are used or stored at the m ne.

(8) Such other courses as may be required by the
Di strict Manager based on circunstances and conditions
at the m ne.

Section 104(g) (1) AS&SI Order No. 3848782, issued at

8:05 a.m, on February 22, 1995, by Inspector Skeens, cites an
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all eged violation of 30 C.F. R 48.25(b), and the cited condition
or practice states as foll ows:

Judy Gerber and Jack Knoell have not received
new mner training required by 30 C F.R

48. 25(b)(4)(8), and (12). Cerber has been
enpl oyed at the mne since May 11, 1995, and
Knoel | since July 11, 1994. Both mners are
to be w t hdrawn.

Both of the cited mners were allowed to return to work on
February 24, 1995, when their new mner training was docunent ed.

The respondent:s answer states, in relevant part, as
fol |l ows:

This order states 2 enpl oyees were inadequately
trai ned as inexperienced mners working at

Coal Creek M ne. The order states that due to

i nadequate training these individuals were
reasonably likely to be injured and that the
injury would result in a fatality. Gerber, one

of the two individuals, was one of the first
people hired by S & Mat Coal Creek. She received
her i nexperienced mner training at the sane tine
the original hires did -- over a period of days.
She devel oped into our best, nost versatile enpl oyee
before taking a tenporary | eave. And Knoell has
been a heavy machi ne nmechanic for 20 years and
travel ed wth experienced S & M nechani cs when he
first started working at Coal Creek.

30 CF.R 48.25(a) requires new mners to receive no |ess
than 24 hours of prescribed training, and except as otherw se
provi ded, the training shall be received before they are assigned
to work duties. Subsection (b) of section 48.25(a), requires the
training programfor new mners to include the follow ng courses:

(1) Instruction in the statutory rights of
mners and their representatives under the Act;
authority and responsibility of supervisors.

(2) Self-rescue and respiratory devi ces.
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(3) Transportation controls and conmuni cati on
system

(4) Introduction to work environment.

(5) Escape and energency evacuation pl ans;
firewarning and firefighting.

(6) Gound control; working in areas of
hi ghwal | s, water hazards, pits and spoil banks;
illum nation and ni ght work.

(7) Health.

(8) Hazard recognition.

(9) Electrical hazards.

(10) First aid.

(11) Expl osives.

(12) Health and safety aspects of the tasks to
which the mner will be assigned.

(13) Such other courses as may be required by
the District Manager based on circunstances and
conditions at the m ne.

Petitionerzs Testinony and Evi dence

MBHA | nspector Herbert A. Skeens testified that he has been
so enployed for three and one-half years, and previously worked
in the mning industry for 18 years. He is a high school

gradu -ate, attended the MSHA Acadeny in Beckley , Wst
Virginia, and has Virginia and Kentucky m ne forenman:s
certificates (Tr. 10-12). He confirned that he conducted a Aspot
i nspectioni at the m ne

in February, 1995, for the purpose of review ng the Part 50
reporting and Part 48 training records, and that respondent:s
representative Steve Kepp acconpanied him M. Skeens descri bed
the mne as an open pit surface coal mne, and stated that the
respondent began operating it sonetine in April or My 1994

(Tr. 13).
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M. Skeens confirmed that he issued the two contested orders
in question. He explained that M. Kepp provided himw th the
i nformati on regardi ng enpl oyee training records, including MSHA
training certificate 5000-23 forns. M. Skeens stated that he
reviewed the training records for approxi mately 60 enpl oyees, and
he and M. Kepp determned their hire dates. M. Skeens then
reviewed the training certificates for each enpl oyee and found
that the individuals who are nanmed in the orders had not received
the required training. He identified Exhibit P-7 as a training
record Form 5000-23, and he explained the information on the form
and how it is filled out (Tr. 15-20).

M. Skeens stated that it took himapproxi mtely 10 hours to
review all of the training records furnished to himby M. Kepp.
He expl ained that the Ahire dates@l shown for each cited enpl oyee
were obtained fromdated training certificates or from infor -
mation provided by M. Kepp. (M. Kepp did not dispute any of
the Ahire datesi listed in the orders (Tr. 21).)

M. Skeens identified Exhibit P-2 as a copy of his order
of February 21, 1995, citing nine enployees for |ack of train-
i ng. He stated that these enpl oyees should have received newy
experienced mner training. Wth regard to cited m ner Derward
Lint, M. Skeens stated the records reflected that he had
recei ved annual refresher training through a contractor wth
an approved training program but had not received any newy
enpl oyed experienced mner training. He explained that newy
enpl oyed experienced mner training includes three subjects that
are not covered or included in annual refresher training, and he
identified themas hazard recognition, introduction to work
environnent, and authority and responsibility of supervisors
and m ners:= representatives, and explained the course contents
(Tr. 22-25).

M. Skeens stated that eight of the nine enployees |isted
recei ved annual refresher training, but not the proper newy
enpl oyed experienced m ner training, which would have included
the aforenentioned three training course subjects. 1In short,
they m ssed these three courses. Wth regard to one enpl oyee,
Burt d eason, he could find no records indicating that he had
any training (Tr. 26). Further, there were | apses of a week to

six nonths fromthe hire dates of sonme of the enpl oyees until
they were trained, and he testified to the hire dates and
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training dates for cited enployees Lint, Chesnore, Hol zer,
MIliken, Mrris, Ason, Villnow, and Wllianms (Tr. 26-28).

In support of his gravity findings associated with the
February 21, 1995, order, M. Skeens stated as follows
(Tr. 29-30):

Q Ckay. You indicated on the citation formthat
an injury was reasonably likely. Wat did you
mean by that?

Go ahead.
Q How did you cone to that concl usion?
A Well, any mner that doesnst have the proper train-

ing is considered to be a hazard to thensel ves and

a hazard to others. These subjects that we di scussed
earlier are pertinent to a mner=s health and safety.
Goi ng out there and not know ng anythi ng about the
mne site, the mne conditions, the traffic patterns,
the blasting rules, the blasting procedures, the
authority and responsibility of the supervisors,

those types of things could easily lead to an acci dent.

Q And you said that injury mght be fatal. How did
you cone to that concl usion?

A Well, with just the hazards associated with that
m ne. You:ve got high walls 60 to 80 feet in
hei ght. You got peopl e working underneath them
wor ki ng above them working close to them spoi
banks. You:ve got the conditions of the m ne that
a person could drive off that high wall if they
di dn:t know where he was.

Theress a | ot of work before daylight hours,
a lot of work after dark. | know when you:re out
there if you donit know where you are, you better
make sure, because you could run off of a high wall
face.
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M. Skeens defined a Asignificant and substantial § violation
as Aa violation of health or safety standard, and that violation

is reasonably likely to result in injury or illness, and that
injury or illness would be of a reasonably serious nature(
(Tr. 31).

M. Skeens stated that the mne has a conplicated work
schedule with four crews reporting for work between the hours of
4:00 a.m and 10:00 a.m, and working different shifts, but he
coul d not explain the work schedul e and indicated that work m ght
be taking place around the clock at any given tinme (Tr. 30).

M. Skeens stated that he based his Ahigh@ negligence find-
ing on the fact that during a prior inspection in Novenber,
1994, he issued two section 104(g)(1l) orders, and during a cl ose-
out conference and ot her discussions with M. Kepp, and possibly
ot her managenent persons, conpliance with Part 48 was di scussed
(Tr. 31, 52).

M. Skeens reviewed a copy of a settlenent decision issued
by Comm ssi on Judge Manni ng on Cctober 26, 1995, and he
identified two Novenber 28, 1994, orders citing a violation of
section 48.26(a) and a nechanic for not receiving newy enployed
experienced mner training, and a blaster for not receiving
hazard training required by section 48.31 (Tr. 32, 35).

Wth regard to the order he issued in this case on
February 22, 1996, M. Skeens confirned that he based the order
on the fact that his review of Training Forns 5000-23 indicated
that cited mners Gerber and Knoell had not received all of the
required training. He identified the three m ssing training
segnents as introduction to work environment, hazard recognition,
and health and safety aspects of tasks assigned (Tr. 35).

M. Skeens stated that he did not determ ne the job
positions held by each of the el even enpl oyees that he identi-
fied in his orders as lacking the required training. He stated
t hat Asonme of these people are what | call utility; they do a
ot of different things@ (Tr. 37). He stated that Ri chard
Villmow was a front-end | oader operator, but Acould very well end
up doi ng nechanic work on it if sonething happened to the | oader.

He has observed M. Vill now steam cl eaning or washing the
| oader, and doi ng mai nt enance work. He stated that Anpbst of
t hese
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enpl oyees, if sonething happens, then theyre required to pitch

in and hel p the nechanic or do another job task.i He stated

that M. Chesnore is a nechanic, and he has observed M. Lint
operating a pan scraper several tines. He believed that

Ms. Cerber worked in the coal handling plant in the control room
or performng clean-up duties. He also believed that people
working in the large plant could be at any plant |ocation at any
time (Tr. 38).

M. Kepp took issue with M. Skeen:s testinony regardi ng the
job tasks in question. He stated that M. Lint was a wel der and
woul d not be operating a scraper. He stated that M. GCerber:s
primary job was truck driver, but conceded that she could be
engaged in clean-up duties if the plant was not running coal
(Tr. 39-41). M. Skeens did not dispute M. Keppss information,
and M. Kepp agreed that an enpl oyee needed to be trained
regardl ess of his job task or assignnment (Tr. 41).

On cross-exam nation, M. Skeens identified the contractor
who trained one of the cited enpl oyees as AS & M Constructi on,
Inc.,@ and he confirned that this conpany had an approved train-
ing plan (Tr. 42). In reviewng the records of the individuals
identified in Order No. 3848781, he found other training
certificates for different types of training, such as annual
refresher or task training, but he was not sure that S & M
Construction, Inc., provided that training (Tr. 42).

M. Skeens stated that there is a difference between
training provided by a contractor and a operator because they
have different training plans, even though they may be simlar.
He expl ained that a contractor enployee who goes to work for a
m ne operator nust be trained by that operator. He confirned
that M. Lint had received contractor training, and that except
for M. Lint and M. d eason, the other enpl oyees received annua
refresher training Ain an untinely manner{ fromthe Coal Creek
M ne operator. |If these enployees were working for the
contractor, they should have been trained under the contractor:s
plan (Tr. 44).

M. Skeens stated that he was not sure about the |ength of
time required for training. He was of the opinion that taking
30 to 45 mnutes for experienced mner training could be Acutting
it alittle short,@ and it woul d depend on the individual m ner,
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the trainer, and the mne policy (Tr. 45). M. Skeens agreed
that if a mner is absent fromthe mne site for any period of
time, he cannot receive training and he woul d not be exposed to
the particular hazards at that mne (Tr. 47).

M. Skeens confirmed that the Aenpl oyed sincel dates for
each of the listed cited enployees only refers to the dates they
started work at the Coal Creek M ne, and one cannot infer from
the dates shown that these were the first dates they started
working at a coal mne performng their particular job tasks
(Tr. 48).

In response to further questions, M. Skeens stated that
task training for anyone working in a mne nust be given before
comenci ng a new task, and that a newy enpl oyed experi enced
m ner must receive training before comencing any work duti es.
Newl y enpl oyed persons, regardl ess of experience, have to be
trained the day they are hired (Tr. 50).

When asked to reconcile one of his prior violations of
Novenber, 1994, concerning a bl aster who had not received hazard
training, where he nonethel ess made a gravity finding that he
woul d not be exposed to a fatal injury, M. Skeens expl ai ned that
the cited individual (Hansen) was an experienced bl aster who was
conprehensively training at other mnes, but not at the m ne
where he was perform ng duties when the violation was issued.

M. Skeens characterized the | ack of m ne specific hazard
training as Aa technicality@ (Tr. 53).

In response to further questions concerning the jobs
performed by the cited enpl oyees, M. Skeens and MSHA counsel
stated as follows (Tr. 54-56):

THE COURT: In the case at hand now, with the
exception of one or two people, you really don=t
know what these other people did in terns of their
j obs?

THE WTNESS: | cant recall what they did. |
know | :ve observed each one of themat one tine or
another. Sone are nechanics, sone are dozer operators,
| oader operators, heavy equi pnment operators is nost of
t hem
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THE COURT: Do you have any information as to
what the accident record is at this mne operation?
Have they had accidents? Have they had fatalities?
Do you know what their profile m ght be?

MS. NOBLE: No. W have statistics as to the
nunber of violations this nmne and several other
mnes in this area, which we intend to i ntroduce.
But as to accident rates, | donst have those avail abl e
here. | donst have any reason to think that their
accident rate is any higher than mnes in this
|l ocation -- in this area.

* * * * * *

THE COURT: VWhat kind of situation results in
fatal accidents?

M5. NOBLE: What kind would result?

THE COURT: Yeah. Soneone wor ki ng under a high
wall? And if hexs not trained in high wall recognition
that=s the kind of situation youre testifying to?

M5. NOBLE: Yeabh.

THE COURT: Is there any information that any of
these individuals were required to work under a high
wal | ?

M5. NOBLE: No.

Larry L. Keller testified that he is the manager/supervi sor
of the MSHA field office in Gllette, Wom ng, and that he is
| nspect or Skeen=s supervisor. He testified as to his experience
and training, including service as an inspector from 1972 to
1978. He confirmed that he visited the mne in question in June
and Novenber, 1994, acconpanying inspectors who were inspecting
the mne. He confirnmed that he attended a conference with
M. Kepp in connection with the section 104(g)(1) orders that
were issued during the Novenber, 1994, inspection and that he and
M. Kepp discussed Across-over training fromS & M Construction,
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| ncorporated, three digit contractor nunber to the seven digit
m ne identification nunber as a mning operator and entityf
(Tr. 58-61).

M. Keller stated that S & M Construction, Inc. is a |local
contractor engaged in highway construction projects, road con-
struction, and Aprobably pipe laying.@ A part of that conpany,
S & MConstruction, Incorporated, has a seven digit mne
operator=s entity nunber and is the operator of the mne. The
construction conpany can provide all of the training required
of a mner who works at the m ne except for the three of four
training itenms, such as the introduction to work environnent,
duties and responsibilities of the foreman, and m ners: repre-
sentatives at the mne site, and sone additional hazard type
training. A contractor cannot provide this training for the
m ne operator (Tr. 62-63).

M. Keller stated that the respondent had approxi mately
50 enpl oyees in 1994 and produced 3, 000,000 tons of coal, and in
1995 the m ne produced approxinately 8,000,000 tons. MSHA:sS
prior history conputer print-out for the mne for the period
January, 1994, through January, 1996, reflects 72 violations
(Tr. 64).

On cross-exam nation, M. Keller confirmed that on
Novenber 27, 1994, MSHA training specialist Judy Tate fromthe
McAl ester, Cklahoma office, conducted a review of training
records at the mne and no violations were issued as a result of
this review He stated that Ms. Tate was not authorized to issue
any citations and reviewed Part 48 training records and Part 50
accident reporting records for conpl eteness. She woul d probably
bring any errors to his attention, and he woul d probably send
soneone to the mne to check the matter (Tr. 69-73).

In response to a question as to how an inspector can reason-
ably conclude that lack of training will result in a fatality if
he does not, on a case-by-case basis, determ ne the hazard
exposure for the particular individual, M. Keller responded as
follows (Tr. 74-75):

THE WTNESS: Through the years, the statistics

in the mning industry has shown this agency that newy
enpl oyed i nexperienced mners suffer nore injuries and
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have suffered nore fatalities in this industry than
ol der, nore experienced enpl oyees.

Therefore, we base a lot of those type of deter-
m nations on the gravity of what our experience has
been in this industry, and what our experience has been
in conpiling the information that would require m ne
operators to present to us.

THE COURT: That:=s an inexperienced m ner
you:re tal ki ng about ?

THE W TNESS: Basically, yes, inexperienced.

THE COURT: Let:=s take an experienced mner. An
experienced m ner who hasn:t had hazards recognition
statutory rights of mners and introduction to work
environment. M first questionis, is that likely to
be a fatality in all cases?

THE WTNESS: No, not in all cases. Hess
probably experienced through his work history. Each
one of those things are individual, anyway. He
probably knows what those hazards are, basically,
but going fromone mne site to another on those
three open topics, were asking -- each mne presents
uni que hazard in itself.

THE COURT: Ri ght.

THE WTNESS: Each mine has traffic rules that are
different froma previous mne. O different m nes,
their blasting signals could be different. |f hess
gained all that experience at a particular mne, his
association to those hazards is probably pretty

M. Keller acknow edged that an inspector who issues
training citations based on his review of records would have no
way of know ng whet her an enpl oyee is know edgeabl e about his
wor k environnent or whether he can recogni ze a hazard unl ess he
speaks with the enployee. He stated that in cases where an
entire mne is under 104(g) w thdrawal because of training, it
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woul d be inpossible to interview every mner and the inspector
nmust assune that the m ne operator cannot provide what was not
done during any training (Tr. 76).

| nspect or Skeens was recalled by the petitioner and he
confirmed that when he issued Order No. 3848781 concerning the
new y enpl oyed experienced mners, he explained to M. Kepp that
t he enpl oyees in question needed newly enpl oyed experi enced m ner
training, including the three courses previously nmentioned,
rat her than the annual refresher training that their training
certificates indicated they received. He stated that M. Kepp
did not indicate to himthat any of the nine individuals had
taken the three m ssing courses (Tr. 79-80).

Respondent:s Testi nony and Evi dence

St ephen Kepp testified that he has served as the
respondent=s safety director for five years, is a certified NMSHA
surface instructor, and holds Wom ng State surface mning fore-
man:s papers. He al so holds a bachel or:s degree in accounting and
a master:zs degree in business admnistration. He has
16 years of mning experience and is aware of MSHAs training
and paperwork requirenents that are his responsibility as safety
director (Tr. 82).

M. Kepp stated that S & M Constructi on was awarded the
contract to operate the m ne over eight other conpani es because
of its continuously inproved safety record. There have been
three lost-tinme accidents since the respondent has operated the
m ne, and there have been no |ost tine accidents since
Cct ober 28, 1995 (Tr. 83).

M. Kepp stated that the enployees cited in O der
No. 3848781 are all experienced in their crafts, are aware of
their surroundi ngs, and are know edgeabl e of any hazards that
may exi st in the course of performng their duties. He did not
believe that any of them presented a hazard to thenselves or to
others (Tr. 85).

M. Kepp discussed the experience |level of the cited
enpl oyees as follows (Tr. 83-85):
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Derward Line is a welder; he has 15 years of
experience. D ck Chesnore has 19 years of experience
working -- he is a plant nmechanic. That=s how he:s
classified; he has 19 years of experience. He has
17 years with Anax Coal at Belle Ayr Mne. Very
know edgeabl e i ndi vidual, and very, very safety

consci ous.

Ray Hol zer is a dozer operator. He has been
wth S & M Construction since the conpany was founded
ten years ago. He has 25 years of experience as a
dozer operator. John MIliken is a bl ade operator
with 20 years of experience. And has been with
S & M Construction since March of 1987. Bill Mrris
is a welder; he has four years of experience, and has
been with S & M since 1992.

Craig A son is another blade operator, with
11 years of experience. He is our finished bl ade
operator, neaning that his skills are extrenely high.
Ri chard Vill now has 18 years of experience as an
equi pnent operator. He:s operated several pieces
of equipnent for S & Mwhile out at Coal Creek.
Bill WIllians is 72 years old. He has four years of
experience wwth S & M Construction as an equi pnent
operator. He currently operates a 627 Caterpillar
scraper. Burt Geason is a plant nechanic with
16 years of experience. And | believe that experience
was from Exxon:s Rawhide M ne here in the basin

M. Kepp stated that M. Knoell is a nechanic who received
the proper training when he arrived at the mne, but it was not
docunented. He indicated that M. Knoell was escorted for the
first several days so he could learn the roads to the pits where
t he machi nes m ght be working. Judy Gerber was one of the first
i ndividuals hired, and she was trai ned on the equi pnent, and was
part of a mne tour when she was inforned of m ne areas that may
present hazards. She is the daughter of another construction
conpany owner and she has been around construction equi pnent al
of her life (Tr. 86).

M. Kepp stated that Lint, Holzer, MIIliken, Mrris, d son,
Villmow, and WIIlianms had annual refresher training provided by
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S & M Construction, the contractor, and it was simlar to the
training provided by S & M Construction, the operator of the
mne. He stated that every enployee who starts out at the m ne
is escorted around so that he knows the roads and traffic
patterns, and they each must watch a hazard training filmwhich
covers all topics, except the responsibility of supervisors and
m ners: representatives. However, he could not state with
certainty that the topic was covered with newly enpl oyed

i ndi viduals (Tr. 86-87).

On cross-exam nation, M. Kepp stated that he is in charge
of safety for both the m ne operator part and contractor part of
S & Ms operations. His experience includes |oading coal trains
the limted operation of sonme heavy equi pnent, and 16 years of
surface coal experience (Tr. 90-92).

M. Kepp believed that M. Chesnore was very safety
consci ous because he was an active participant in a January 1995
refresher training course. M. Kepp also believed that, based on
their experience, the nine cited enployees were aware of their
wor k surroundi ngs and had the ability to recogni ze hazards.
Further, with the exception of M. Villnow, none of the enpl oyees
had any lost tinme accidents (Tr. 94-97).

M. Kepp stated that a 20-mnute video that is mne specific
to Coal Creek Mne is viewed by the enpl oyees, and that one would
Ahave a good idea of what went on at the m ne@ by watching the
video. He conceded that sinply viewi ng the video would not cover
all of the training requirenents for newy enpl oyed experienced
m ners or inexperienced mners (Tr. 97).

M. Kepp stated that the three training topics previously
menti oned were covered as part of the enployee training, but
the trai ning was not docunented by preparing a Form 5000-23. He
stated that all personnel who start work at the mne are given a
m ne tour, and an equi pnment operator would be tested and given
hazard training before he is hired and starts work. He confirned
that the training subject related to the authority and responsi -
bility of supervisors and mners: representatives was not
i ncluded as part of the hazard training video, but that it was
Avery likely@ i ncluded as part of the mne tour conducted by him
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or a shift supervisor (Tr. 95-100). He also alluded to first
day tours and escorts for M. Knoell and other new enpl oyees
(Tr. 101).

M. Kepp stated that all of the cited enpl oyees were

Apr obabl y@ trained in his office after the orders were issued,
and that the Forns 5000-23 were then executed and shown to

| nspector Skeens in order to abate the orders (Tr. 102-104, 112).

In response to a question as to why he would need to re-train
the cited enployees if they had in fact been trained in the first
pl ace, M. Kepp stated that after the prior record reviews by
Ms. Tate, MSHAss training representative, she was not sure of
the kinds of training that needed to be provided and suggested
that he provide newy enpl oyed experienced mner training to al
m ne enpl oyees and that he did so in his capacity as the m ne
operator:=s trainer and that this Awoul d probably get ne coveredd
(Tr. 104-105).

When asked why he had not prepared the 5000-23 Forns for
the cited enpl oyees after they were trained, M. Kepp stated
that AW th respect to these nine individuals, they did have what
| thought was correct and current training fornsf@ (Tr. 105). He
al so believed that the enpl oyees had been trained by the con-
tractor (S & M and, although not trained by the m ne operator
(S &M, he believed Aall along that these people did have
current training@ by Atechnically the sane corporate entity(

(Tr. 107).

M. Kepp believed that the orders issued by Inspector Skeens
wer e exagger ated because seven of the cited nine enpl oyees had
current craft training and had been trained in the introduction
to their work environnent, hazard recognition, and the statutory
rights of mners, but conceded that there was no docunentation of
this training (Tr. 108).

Wth regard to the order citing M. Knoell and Ms. Cerber,
M. Kepp stated that Athese people did receive their training.
just didnst get three boxes checked off on these individuals.@
After subsequently filling out the form the inspector abated the
order (Tr. 112).

Petitionerzs counsel agreed that in view of the fact that
the cited enpl oyees worked for the contractor and the m ne
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operator, basically the sane conpany, there may have been
confusion in early Novenber, 1994, regarding the type of training
that was required. However, after the prior orders were issued
in |late Novenber, 1994, for the sane type of violations, there
was no confusion and M. Kepp Ashoul d have gotten everything up
to date then and kept it up to datef (Tr. 110). M. Kepp
conceded the | ack of docunentation, and further explained as
follows (Tr. 113-114):

THE WTNESS: Wsat I:=ve agreed to is that
docunent ati on has not been done and these orders
are exaggerated. They should have been not S and S
citations for failure to docunent training. That:s
my position.

THE COURT: How woul d the inspector know whet her
or not all these people received all this training when
he appears at the mne there and starts perusing the
records? Did you tell himwhat you testified to today
about how you thought all these people had been trained.

THE WTNESS: I:msure at the tine -- no, | did
not meke any statenents along that I|ine.

M. Kepp stated that he filled out newtraining forns to
abate the orders that were issued, and when asked why he sinply
di d not docunent the training, rather than re-training the cited
i ndividuals to abate the orders, he responded (Tr. 116-117):

A | guess maybe to answer that question, | wanted
to get sonething established. Sonething organized
with a pattern such that when | nmade a statenent,
[y]es, he did receive newy enpl oyed experienced
mner training,:- it was the steps that | covered,
and | wanted to start with the first individual.
Through and up to today, | do it the sane way.

* * * *

Q So you wanted to nmake sure the second tine that
you filled it out in order to termnate the wth-
draw order. You wanted to nake sure that
everything was really included?
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A Sonmet hing | cannot do, sonething | wll not
do is just check off a box and sign the form
That carries it=s own set of penalties, including
personal penalties, and I-=mnot going to do that.

* * * * *

A | guess maybe it=s just dotting the i=s and
crossing the t-s.

Q So this tinme you dotted the i=s and crossed the
t=s, and the withdrawal orders were ternmn nated?

A. That=s correct.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

Fact of Viol ations

Order No. 3848781. The respondent is here charged with a
violation of 30 C F.R 48.26(a), because of its alleged failure
to provide newy enployed experienced mner training to nine
of its enployees. |Inspector Skeens testified credibly that he
i ssued the violation after review ng the respondent:s enpl oyee
training records, and conparing their Ahire dates@ (which are
not di sputed) with the available training records. Although
M. Skeens found that eight of the cited enpl oyees had received
annual refresher training by the respondent in its contractor
capacity, and that one had received no training, he determ ned
that the refresher training for the eight enployees in question
did not include three of the training courses required by section
48. 26(a), nanely, Introduction to Wrk Environnent, Authority and
Responsibility of Supervisors and M ners: Representatives, and
Hazard Recognition, as required by section 48.26(b)(1), (3), and
(7) (Tr. 22-26).

| nspector Keller explained that the respondent:s conpany
consists of two parts, a road and hi ghway construction contractor
with a three digit MSHA identification nunber, and a contractor
m ne operator with a seven digit MSHA identification nunber. He
stated that a construction contractor may provide all of the
training required of a mner working at a mne except for the
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itens that were omtted in this case, and that a contractor
cannot provide this training for the mne operator (Tr. 62-63).

| nspector Skeens testified that when he issued the order
he explained to M. Kepp that the cited enpl oyees needed newy
enpl oyed experienced mner training, including the three omtted
courses, rather than their annual refresher training, and that
M. Kepp did not indicate to himthat any of them had taken the
three m ssing courses (Tr. 79-80).

None of the cited mners were called to testify in this
case. M. Kepp asserted that seven of the m ners had annual
refresher training provided by the respondent in its AContractorf(
capacity, and that it was Asimlar(@ to the training provided by
the respondent in its mne operator capacity (Tr. 86). Although
he alluded to a video viewed by nine enpl oyees, he conceded that
sinply viewing and video would not cover the training require-
ments in question (Tr. 97).

Al t hough M. Kepp maintained that the three training courses
in question were covered as part of enployee training, he
admtted that it was not docunented by the proper MSHA forns and
that the course dealing with the authority and responsibility of
supervi sors and m ners: representatives was not part of the
vi deo, but Avery likely@ a part of a mne tour (Tr. 99). Since
the cited enpl oyees were trained by the Acontractor,@® but not the
Am ne operator,(@ he believed that they had current training by
At echni cal |l y@ the same corporate entity (Tr. 107).

M. Kepp admtted that he did not informlnspector Skeens
about his belief that the enpl oyees had been trai ned, and he
agreed that he did not docunent the alleged training that he
clainms was given. He believed that the order in question was
exaggerated and that it should have been issued as a non-(S&SQ
citation for failure to docunent training (Tr. 113).

After careful review of all of the testinony and evi dence,
conclude and find that the petitioner has established a violation
of the cited training standard by a preponderance of the credible
and probative evidence adduced in this case. Accordingly,
section 104(g)(1) Order No. 3848781 | S AFFI RVED
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Order No. 3848782. The respondent is charged with a
violation of 30 C.F. R 48.25(b), for its alleged failure to
provi de new mner training for two enpl oyees who had worked at
the mne for 8 and 10 nonths prior to the issuance of the vio -

|ation on February 22, 1995. The inspector cited the enpl oyees
after determning that they had not been trained in three of the
13 courses required by section 48.25(b)(4), (8 and (12), nanely
I ntroduction to Wrk Environnent, Hazard Recognition, and Health
and Safety Aspects of Assigned Tasks.

| nspector Skeens confirmed that he issued the violation
after reviewing the training records provided by M. Kepp and
determning that the two cited enpl oyees did not receive all of
the required training, nanely, the three mssing cited training
courses (Tr. 35). He stated that newly enpl oyed i ndivi dual s nust
be trained the day they are hired, and nmust be task trained
bef ore commencing a new task (Tr. 50).

M. Kepp asserted that cited enpl oyee Knoell received

Apr oper training@ when he arrived at the mne, but that it was
not docunented. As for Ms. Gerber, M. Kepp stated that she has
been around construction and equi pnent all of her life, was
trained on the equi pnent, and was part of a mne tour when she
was informed of mne areas that may present hazards (Tr. 86).
As noted earlier regarding the viewi ng of a video, M. Kepp
admtted that it would not cover all of the training require-

ments for newy enployed i nexperienced mners (Tr. 97). He
also alluded to first day tours and escorts for M. Knoell and
ot her new enpl oyees (Tr. 101), but none of this is docunmented
or corroborated and, as previously noted, none of the cited
enpl oyees were called to testify. M. Kepp conceded the |ack
of docunmentation (Tr. 113).

After careful review of the testinony and evi dence,
conclude and find that the respondent has not rebutted the
credi ble testinony and evi dence adduced by the petitioner in
support of this violation. | conclude and find that the
petitioner has established a violation of the cited training
standard by a preponderance of the credible and probative
evi dence. Accordingly, section 104(g)(1) Order No. 3848782
| S AFFI RMVED.

1040



Significant and Substantial Violations

A AS&S) violation is described in section 104(d) (1) of

the Act as a violation Aof such nature as could significantly
and substantially contributed to the cause and effect of a coal
or other mne safety or health hazard.§ 30 CF.R " 814(d)(1).
A violation is properly designated S&S Aif, based upon the
particular facts surrounding the violation there exists a rea -
sonable Iikelihood that the hazard contributed to will result
inan injury or illness of a reasonable serious nature.(

Cenment Division, National Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (Apri
1981) .

In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 3-4 (January 1984), the
Comm ssion explained its interpretation of the termAS&S) as
fol |l ows:

In order to establish that a violation of
a mandatory safety standard is significant and
substantial under National Gypsumthe Secretary
of Labor must prove: (1) the underlying violation
of a mandatory safety standard; (2) a discrete
safety hazard--that is, a neasure of danger to
safety-contributed to by the violation; (3) a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contri buted
towll result in an injury; and (4) a reasonable
i kelihood that the injury in question wll be of
a reasonably serious nature.

See al so Austin Power, Inc. V. Secretary, 861 F. 2d 99,
103-04 ( 5th Cr. 1988), aff:g 9 FMSHRC 2015, 2021 (Decenber
1987) (approving Mathies «criteria).

The question of whether any particular violation is S&S
nmust be based on the particular facts surrounding the violation,
i ncluding the nature of the mne involved, Secretary of Labor
v. Texasqgulf , Inc., 10 FVMSHRC 498 (April 1988); Youghi ogheny

&

Chi o Coal Conpany, 9 FMSHRC 2007 (Decenber 1987). Further, any
determ nation of the significant nature of a violation nust be
made in the context of continued normal m ning operations.
Nat i onal Gypsum supra, 3 FMSHRC 327, 329 (March 1985).

Hal fway, | ncorporated, 8 FMSHRC 8 (January 1986).
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In United States Steel M ning Conpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125,
1129 (August 1985), the Comm ssion stated further as foll ows:

We have explained further that the third
el emrent of the Mathies fornula >requires that
the Secretary establish a reasonable |ikelihood
that the hazard contributed to will result in an
event in which there is an injury.: U S. Steel
M ning Co., 6 FVMSHRC 1834, 1836 (August 1984).
We have enphasi zed that, in accordance with the
| anguage of section 104(d) (1), it is the contribution
of a violation to the cause and effect of a hazard

that nust be significant and substantial. U S. Steel
M ni ng Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1866, 1868 (August
1984).

The Conmm ssion recently reasserted its prior determ nations
that as part of his AS&S) finding, the Secretary nust prove the
reasonabl e |ikelihood of an injury occurring as a result of the
hazard contributed to by the cited violative condition or
practice. Peabody Coal Conpany, 17 FMSHRC 508 (April 1995);
JimWalter Resources, Inc., Docket No. SE 94-244-R, decided
April 19, 1996.

In H ghwire I ncorporated, 10 FMSHRC 22, 67-68 (January
1988), | affirmed an inspector:=s AS&S) fi ndi ngs where the facts
and circunstances clearly established that a |lack of task
training presented a reasonable |ikelihood of serious injuries
associated wth such a violation. H ghwire involved a fatal
truck accident that occurred when the driver |ost control of the
truck on a curve and overturned. The m ne operator was charged
wi th several violations, including a violation of 30 C.F.R
48. 26, for failing to provide newy enpl oyed experienced m ner
training to the truck driver. Contrary to the instant case, the
Secretary in H ghwire provided probative testinony and evi dence
concerning the operator=s training plan, the driver:s job and
experience, and sufficient evidence supporting its AS&S)
posi tion.

In Patch Coal Conpany, 10 FMSHRC 782 (June 1988), | affirned
several citations for failure of the mne operator to give newmy
enpl oyed experienced mner training to equipnment operators in
violation of 30 C.F.R 48.26(a), but vacated the inspector:s S&S
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findings associated with each of the citations. M reasons for
vacating these findings were based on the inspector=s general and
specul ative testinony regarding certain perceived hazards, and
his assunptions that a lack of training would expose mners to
injuries and fatalities generally associated with any m ning
operation, rather than on any specific prevailing mning

condi tions fromwhich one could reasonably conclude that the
newy enployed mners were in fact exposed to m ne hazards in
their new work environment which would likely result in injuries
of a reasonably serious nature.

In Sunny Ridge M ning Conpany, Inc., 13 FMSHRC 928, 931
(June 1991), fornmer Conm ssion Judge Janes A. Broderick affirned
a violation of 30 CF.R 48.26(a) because of the operator:s
failure to train 11 newy enpl oyed experienced mners. However,
he vacated the inspector:=s AS&Si findings and nodified the vio -

lation to non-(S&Si after concluding that the evidence did not
establish that the hazard contributed to by the violation would

reasonably likely result in a serious injury. In support of his
findings, Judge Broderick noted that the evidence established
that the mners were experienced and that the m ne environnment
was not particularly dangerous or threatening.

In the instant case, there is no evidence of any fatal
accidents at the mne, and the petitioner has no information
concerning the mne accident profile (Tr. 54). However, M. Kepp
testified that the respondent was awarded the contract to operate
the m ne because of its continuously inproved safety record, and
while there were three lost tine accidents since the respondent
has operated the mne, there have been no lost tine accidents
since Cctober 28, 1995. He confirned that the three accidents
i nvol ved two broken wists and a broken ankle, and expl ai ned t hat
the m ne operated for 462 days accident free before the accidents
whi ch occurred within a seven-week period (Tr. 83). There is no
evi dence that any of these incidents involved a |ack of training.

Wiile it is true that nost of the mners conpleted the
required training after their Ahire dates,@ there is no credible
or probative evidence to establish that the del ay exposed t hem
to any particular hazards. M. Kepps:= credible and unrebutted
testinony reflects that all of the cited enpl oyees were experi -

enced equipnment operators with many years of service with the
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respondent or other mning conpanies. Although M. Kepps did not
di spute any of the enployee Ahire dates@ listed in the orders,

| nspector Skeens agreed that these dates only reflect when the

i ndi vi dual s began work at the mne, and he conceded that one
cannot infer that these were the dates the individuals first
started performng their particular job tasks. He also confirned
that in reviewing the training certificates of eight of the cited
enpl oyees, he found training certificates for different types of
training, such as annual refresher or task training, and he con-
firmed that the respondent had an approved MSHA trai ning plan.

As noted earlier, M. Kepp testified credibly to the work
experience of the cited mners. 1In addition to annual refresher
and other training that they had received, he testified that
enpl oyees who start work at the mne for the first tinme are
escorted so that they know the roads and traffic patterns, and
that they are required to watch hazard training filnms and a
20-m nute mne specific video about the mne. He further
testified that cited enpl oyee Knoell was escorted to his work
| ocation for the first several days to famliarize hinself with
the roads, and that Ms. Cerber was infornmed about the m ne areas
as part of a mne tour. Although I cannot conclude that these
procedures necessarily fulfilled MSHA:s training requirenents to
the letter, absent any evidence to the contrary, they do mtigate
the hazard and gravity exposure associated wth these violations.

| nspector Skeens testified that a | ack of know edge about

the mne site, the mning conditions, traffic patterns, and the
bl asting rules and procedures Acould easily lead to an accident.(

However, M. Skeens admtted that he did not determ ne the job
positions held by the cited enpl oyees, did not speak with them
could not recall what they did, and sinply observed them Aat one
time or another@ (Tr. 37, 54-56). Supervisory |Inspector Keller
acknow edged that an inspector who issues training citations
based solely on a review of the training records would have no
way of know ng whether or not the cited enpl oyee is know edgeabl e
about his work environnment and can recogni ze a hazard unl ess he
speaks with him (Tr. 76).

Al though it may be burdensone for an inspector to devel op
all of the relevant facts in determning the potential hazard
exposure for all enployees at a | arge m ning operation, the
instant case only involves | ess than 12 enpl oyees who recei ved
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annual refresher training, and who apparently conpl eted the
training courses required by the cited regul ati ons, except for
those dealing with their work environnent, hazard recognition

and the responsibilities of supervisors and mners: representa-
tives. | find no evidence in this case to support any reasonable
conclusion that m ssing a course on the responsibilities of
supervi sors and m ners: representatives had any adverse inpact on
the safety of the cited m ners.

Wth respect to the required training course subjects on
hazard recognition and work environment, | agree that they are
i nportant conponents of any approved training program However,
in this case, the inspector=s conclusion that injuries were
reasonably likely was based on his belief that inproperly trained
m ners are considered a hazard to thensel ves and to ot hers.
Al t hough one may agree with this generalized concl usion,
conclude and find that an inspector nust devel op sone factual
evi dence, on a case-by-case basis, to establish that the cited
m ners woul d reasonably likely suffer injuries of a reasonably
serious nature because they were not tinely trained on hazard
recognition and their work environnment at the particular m ne
where they are enpl oyed.

In the absence of any evidence concerning the required job
tasks performed by the cited enpl oyees and the presence or |ike-
i hood of any adverse mning conditions that they would
encounter in performng these tasks, | cannot specul ate or
concl ude that the absence of some of the required training would
reasonably likely lead to an accident or fatality.

In support of his findings that any injury could reasonably
likely be expected to be fatal, M. Skeens testified that the
m ne has 60 to 80 feet highwalls, and that Apeopl el work above,
bel ow, or close to these highwalls, and that a Aperson could
drive off that highwall if they didnst know where he was.i He
al so indicated that work is perforned at the m ne before and
after daylight hours, and that sonmeone Acould run off a high wall
face@ if they did not know where they were. However, there is no
evi dence that any of the cited mners worked at tines other than
a normal daylight work shift, and no evidence was presented
connecting any of the cited enployees with these hazards.
| ndeed, in response to a bench question as to whether there was
any information in this case that any of these individuals
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were required to work under a highwall, petitioner:s counsel
responded, ANo.@ (Tr. 56).

| take note of one of the prior Novenber 1994, violations
i ssued by I nspector Skeens to the respondent citing a bl aster
who had not been hazard trained as required by 30 C F. R 48. 31,
before commencing his work duties in a coal pit (Exhibit P-3,
pg. 15). M. Skeens determned that the blaster was allowed to
work on the day of the violation and on one prior occasion, and
al t hough he found that the cited bl aster was exposed to the cited
condition and could suffer Aa | ost workday accident,(@ he con-
cluded that an accident was unlikely, and that the violation was
non- (S&S. (@

M. Skeens explained that the cited blaster in question was
experienced, had hazard training fromother mnes, and the fact
that he did not have the particular hazard training for the
respondent:s particular mne Areally cane down to a technicality(@
(Tr. 53). In the instant case, | have difficulty reconciling the
petitionerzs concern about the lack of training to assure that
a mner is aware of the potential hazards at a particular m ne
where he is enployed, with M. Skeens: rather contradictory
belief that the failure to task train the blaster in question
was nerely Aa technicality,@ warranting a non-({S&Si fi ndi ng.

On the facts of this case, and after careful review and
consi deration of |Inspector Skeens: testinony in support of his
AS&Si findings as to each of the violations, | conclude and find
that these findings were based on general and specul ative
assunptions that a lack of training would expose mners to
injuries and fatalities generally associated with any m ning
operation, rather than on any reliable and probative evi dence
that the job tasks performed or expected to be perforned by the
m ners, coupled with their |lack of several required training
courses, and the prevailing mning conditions under which they
were expected to work, presented conditions fromwhich one could
reasonably conclude that they were in fact exposed to m ne
hazards likely to result in injuries of a reasonably serious
nature. 1In short, | conclude and find that the petitioner has
failed to establish by a preponderance of the credi ble and
probative evidence adduced in this case that the violations were
AS&S. § Accordingly, the inspector=s findings in this regard are
rejected and they ARE VACATED
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Si ze of Business and Effect of Cvil Penalty Assessnents
on the Respondent:s Ability to Continue in Business

| nspector Keller believed that the m ne was producing
Ain the nei ghborhood of eight mllion@ tons in 1995, and had
approxi mately 50 enployees in 1994 (Tr. 63-64).

The parties stipulate that the respondent:s 1994 coa
production was 3,356, 712 tons, and that the respondent is a
medi umto-large sized mne operator (Tr. 4-5).

Al t hough the respondent:s representative Alined throughl a
proposed stipulation that MSHAss proposed penalty assessnents
will not affect the respondent:s ability to continue in business,
he stated that Awhat | was concerned about is our conpany is in
a loss situation for the year and it certainly would have an
inpact@ (Tr. 118). In response to a bench inquiry as to whet her
or not MSHAss proposed penalty assessnents woul d put the
respondent out of business, M. Kepp stated ANo, sir, it would
not, I did not mean to inply that@ (Tr. 118).

Absent any information or evidence to the contrary, | cannot
conclude that the penalty assessnents that | have made for the
violations in this case will adversely affect the respondent:s
ability to continue in business, and | conclude and find that
they will not.

Hi story of prior Violations

| nspector Keller nmade reference to a conputer print-out
for the 24-nmonth period fromJanuary 1994 t hrough January 1,
1996, and indicated that it reflected a total of 72 violations
(Tr. 64). However, the actual print-out referred to by M.
Keller was not offered, and it is not part of the record.

MSHA:s conputer print-out for the subject mne for the
period April 18, 1994 to February 21, 1995 (Exhibit P-1)
reflects that the respondent paid civil penalty assessnents for
28 violations, including one violation of section 48.25(a),
two violations of section 48.29(c), and one violation of section
48.31. The violations that were the subject of a prior settle-
ment (Exhibit P-3) are included in the print-out, and | note that
three of these violations were issued because of the respondent:s
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failure to have the training records for two mners avail abl e at
the mne, and for not conpleting a training formfor one m ner.
I n each of these instances, the mners were in fact trained.

For an operation of its size, | cannot conclude that the
respondent has an overall poor conpliance records. However,
in viewof its prior training violations, | believe that the

respondent needs to pay closer attention to MSHAs training

regul ations. M. Kepp, in his capacity as safety director and
the mne official responsible for training, nust devote nore
time and attention to insure that all mners are properly
trained, and that all of the required training docunentation is
tinmely and properly maintained. |In several instances during the
course of the hearing, M. Kepp appeared uncertain when he stated
that one training segnent Avery likely@ was included as part of

a mne tour, and that all of the cited enpl oyees were Aprobabl y@
trained in his office to abate the violations (Tr. 95-102). In
any event, | have considered the respondent:s conpliance record
in assessing the penalties for the violations which | have
affirmed and find that on the record here presented, any addi-
tional increases over those penalty anmounts are not warranted.

Good Faith Conpliance

The petitioner asserts that the respondent was cited for
hi gh negligence Asince it failed to exercise reasonable care in
[ ocating violations within a reasonable period of tinme and in
taki ng appropriate action to see that those violation were
abatedil ( Posthearing Brief pgs. 5-6). | agree with the con-

clusion that the respondent failed to exercise reasonabl e care,
but | reject the petitioner=s assertion that the respondent
failed to abate the violations that are in issue in this case.
The petitioner stipulated that the respondent denonstrated good
faith in abating the violations, and, at page 7 of its brief,
the petitioner recognizes that the respondent denonstrated good
faith in abating the violations cited in this case.

The petitioner:=s Afailure to abate@ argunment is apparently
based on the notion that after the Novenber 1994 training
vi ol ations were issued, abated, and term nated, any subsequent
training violations may be construed as non-abatenent. | find
absolutely no support for any such theory, and it is rejected.
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| conclude and find that the respondent denonstrated good faith
in abating the violations in this case.

Gavity

Al though | have found that the violations were not AS&S, 0
| nonet hel ess conclude and find that the failure to provide the
prescri bed training were serious violations.

Negl i gence

| nspector Skeens testified that his Ahi gh@ negligence find-
ing associated with Order No. 3848781 (Exhibit P-2) was based
on two prior section 104(g)(1) training orders that he issued in
Novenber, 1994, and his cl ose-out conference discussions, and
ot her discussions that he had with M. Kepp, and possibly other
m ne managenent people, concerning conpliance with MSHAs Part 48
training requirenmnents (Exhibit P-3, Tr. 31).

Wth regard to Order No. 3848782 (Exhibit P-4), Inspector
Skeens checked t he Ahi gh@ negligence bl ock on the face of the
order form but offered no testinony in support of this finding.

The hearing transcript reflects that |Inspector Skeens was handed
hearing Exhibits P-2 and P-4 by petitioner:ss counsel, and after

| ooking at Exhibit P-2 confirnmed that it was one of the orders
that he issued (Tr. 20). He then proceeded to testify about that
order (Tr. 20-31).

| nspector Skeens identified page 6 of Exhibit P-3 as one
of the prior section 104(g)(1) orders he issued on Novenber 28,
1994, and confirnmed that it was Arelatedl to Order No. 3848782,
the second citation that had not as yet been discussed (Tr. 32).

| nspector Skeens then proceeded to testify as to his
reasons for issuing Order No. 3848782 (Tr. 35-38). After
cross-examnation (Tr. 58), MSHA witness Larry Keller was called
to testify. Apart fromhis comment that his prior order of
Novenber 28, 1994, where he al so found Ahi gh@ negli gence Awas
related to Order No. 3848782, |nspector Skeen offered no testi -

nmony in support of his Ahigh@ negligence finding with respect

to that order.
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MSHA field supervisor and manager Larry L. Keller
confirmed that he acconpani ed i nspectors during the Novenber 1994
i nspection when sone section 104(g) (1) orders were issued and
that he attended a conference with M. Kepp where Across-over(
training and three-digit contractor and seven-digit m ne operator
entity identification nunbers were discussed (Tr. 59-60).

However, M. Keller offered no testinony concerning |nspector
Skeens: negligence findings with respect to the contested orders
in this case, and he was never questioned about this issue.

Apart from I nspector Skeens: testinony that his Ahighf

negl i gence finding concerning Order No. 3848781 was based on
two prior orders issued in Novenber, 1994, and his di scussions
with M. Kepp at that tinme concerning MSHA:s training require-

ments , and his testinony that one of the prior Novenber orders
Awas rel atedl to Order No. 3848782, the petitioner offered no
further testinony in support of the inspector:zs Ahi gh@l negligence
fi ndi ngs.

At page 3 of its brief, the petitioner states that the
speci al penalty assessnents foll owed the respondent:=s Aunwar -
rantable failure to conply wwth MSHA's training regulations,{
and at page 6, the petitioner states that the violations
Aexhi bited an unwarrantable failure@ by the respondent to ensure
the health and safety of its mners. Follow ng these statenents
is a conclusion (page 8) that the violations in this case were
desi gnated as Aunwarrantable failure,§ a statement at page 7 that
MSHA el ected to special assess the violations Abecause the
operator exhibited an unwarrantable failure to conmply@ with the
cited training standards, and argunents in support of the alleged
unwarrantable failure violations (Brief, pgs, 6-7).

| nspectors Skeens and Kel |l er presented no testinony or
evi dence either alleging or supporting any section 104(d)
unwarrantable failure findings in this case. Inspector Skeens:
orders were issued as section 104(g)(1) orders, and the pleadings
filed by the petitioner never alleged or charged the respondent
wi th any unwarrantable failure violations. Although the
i nspector was free to issue citations or orders pursuant to
section 104(d)(1) or (d)(2), and ordering the w thdrawal of
m ners pursuant to section 104(g)(1), he did not do so. He
sinply issued the section 104(g)(1) orders w thdraw ng the
affected mners, and he never nodified the orders to reflect any
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unwarrantabl e failure charges and the petitioner never anended

its pleadings to reflect any unwarrantable failure charges. It:=s
attenpts to do so now through its posthearing brief ARE
REJECTED. | find no evidentiary support for the petitioner:s

assertions that the violations constitute unwarrantable
failures by the respondent to conply with the cited standards.

| take note of the fact that the petition for assessnent of
civil penalties filed in this case by the petitioner includes an
MSHA Form 1000- 179, containing the notation ASpecial Assessnent -
See Attached Narrative.f However, the narrative statenment was
not attached as part of the initial pleadings, and it was
produced by the petitioner for the first tine at the hearing
(Exhi bit P-6).

MSHA:s narrative special assessnent findings reflect a
decision to specially assess the violations in accordance with
its penalty assessnent criteria found in 30 CF. R 100.5. This
regul ati on contains eight violations categories under which
speci al assessnents are appropriate, including unwarrantable
failures and violations Ainvolving an extraordinarily high degree
of negligence or gravity or other unique aggravating circum
stances. i The narrative findings in support of the specially
assessed violations in this case do not nmention any unwarrantabl e
failures to conply and include no discussion with respect to any
Aext raor di nary@ negligence, gravity, or Auni que aggravating
circunstances. |Indeed, the gravity finding reflects Aseri ous(

vi ol ati ons, and negligence findings based on a failure to
exerci se reasonabl e care.

As part of his inspection report in this case, |nspector
Skeens executed an MSHA Form 7000- 32, recommendi ng a Aspeci al
assessnent, @ and he described the Aserious or aggravating
ci rcunst ances( i nvol ved as the previously issued Novenber 1994
training violations, and the cl oseout conference with the
respondent follow ng that inspection. | cannot concl ude that
the eight prior training violations, three of which did not
involve a lack of training, and the fact that they were

conferenced wth the respondent, standing al one, constitutes
Aaggravating@ circunstances. However, considering the fact that
nost of the prior violations were issued on Novenber 28, 1994,
just two or three nonths prior to the issuance of the violations
in this case, and the unrebutted testinony of the inspectors that
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these matters were di scussed wth safety director Kepp,
conclude and find that M. Kepp had a heightened duty to review
his training records to insure conpliance with the cited
standards in question.

Wil e there may have been sonme confusion concerning the
respondent:=s bifurcated contractor-operator training obligations
prior to Novenmber, 1994, | agree with the petitioner:zs argunent
that no such confusion existed when the February 1995 vi ol ati ons
were issued. Under all of these circunstances, although the
i nspector:=s testinony in support of his Ahigh@ negligence find-

ings associated wwth the violations is rather sparse, |
conclude and find that the record, as a whole, supports his
Ahi gh@ negligence findings as to both violations, and they ARE
AFFI RVED.

Cvil Penalty Assessnents

The petitioner has proposed a Aspecial penalty assessnent
of $7,500 for Order No. 3848781, and a Aspeci al § assessnent of
$5,000 for Order No. 3848782. The petitioner asserts that these
proposed Aspeci al § penalty assessnents reflect an objective and
fair appraisal of the facts presented, particularly in |ight of
t he respondent:s unwarrantable failure to conply with the cited
standards, the Agravity of its negligence,@ its history of prior
violations (especially of the sanme type), and its failure Ato
identify the potential violations after having been notified of
themin Novenber 1994.(

It is clear that | amnot bound by the petitioner:s proposed
penal ty assessnents, and that | may inpose penalty assessnents
de novo, after consideration of the penalty criteria set forth in
section 110(i) of the Act, Wstnoreland Coal Co., 8 FMSHRC 491,
192 (April 1986); Sellerburg Stone Co., 5 FMSHRC 287, 290-94
(March 1983), affd, 736 F. 2d 1147 ( 7th Cr. 1984). Wer e
appro-priate, it is clearly within ny discretion to assess
penal ti es higher or |ower than those proposed by the petitioner,
or accept and affirmthose proposed by the petitioner. On the
facts and evidence of record in this case, | conclude and find
the petitioner=s proposed penalty assessnents are unsupported and
not warrant ed.
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On the basis of ny foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
ny de novo consideration of the civil penalty assessment criteria
found in section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude and find that the
foll ow ng penalty assessnents are reasonabl e and appropriate for
the violations that have been affirned in these proceedi ngs:

30 CF.R
Order No. Dat e Section Assessment
3848781 2/ 21/ 95 48. 26( a) $2, 500
3948782 2/ 22/ 95 48. 25( a) $1, 000
ORDER

IT 1S ORDERED as foll ows:

1. Section 104(g) (1) AS&SH Order Nos. 3848781 and
2848782 ARE MODI FI ED as non-(S&S§ Orders, and as
nodi fi ed, they ARE AFFI RMVED

2. The respondent shall pay civil penalty assessnents
in the amounts shown above for the violations that
have been affirmed. Paynent is to be made to NMSHA
within thirty (30) days of the date of this decision
and order, and upon receipt of paynent, this matter
i s DI SM SSED.

Ceorge A Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stribution:

Ann Noble, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Departnent
of Labor, 1999 Broadway, Suite 1600, Denver, CO 80202-5716
(Certified Mail)

St ephen Kepp, S & M Constructi on, c., P.O Box 2606,

In
Gllette, W 82717 (Certified Mail)

\Ih
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